THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2013-001808

Samuel H. Pruett, as Personal Representative for the Estate of
Yvonne Carrie Pruett,.....Respondent,

v.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., Southern Assisted Living, LLC, d/b/a Carolina
House of Hilton Head, and Sonia S. King,.....Defendants,

Of whom Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. and Southern Assisted Living, LLC,
d/b/a Carolina House of Hilton Head are theAppellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Todd W. Smyth, SC Bar No. 5380
Joshua S. Whitley, SC Bar No. 77824
Claude O. Tackett, SC Bar No. 72988
SMYTH WHITLEY, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err in finding there was no agreement to arbitrate when Respondents admitted there was an agreement?
2. Are Respondents estopped from challenging the existence of an agreement they drafted, and subsequently acknowledged and performed under for over a month and half?
3. Did the Circuit Court err in deciding a discovery issue in the arbitration agreement that should have been decided by the arbitrator?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent filed the original action alleging Mrs. Yvonne Pruett, a resident of the Appellant's long-term care facility, suffered mistreatment at the hands of the facility staff. As part of her admission to the facility, Mrs. Pruett's husband and Personal Representative, Samuel H. Pruett signed a Residency Agreement and Arbitration Agreement on March 31, 2009. However, Respondent disregarded the Arbitration Agreement (hereinafter referred to as "agreement" or "Agreement") and, instead, filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Beaufort County on April 12, 2011.¹

Notwithstanding the dispute pertaining to the Arbitration provision of the Residency Agreement, on September 28, 2012, counsel for Respondent proposed and ultimately entered into a voluntary agreement with the Appellant to arbitrate any and all claims she had against the facility during the pendency of the appeal on the original Agreement. The attorneys for the respective parties negotiated the terms and a revised agreement was sent to counsel for the Appellants on October 5, 2012. (See, Letter of K. Jolley of 10/5/12). Counsel for Appellant accepted this proposal on October 8, 2012. (See, E-mail of M. Grier of 10/8/12). Thereafter, the parties, pursuant to their agreement, agreed on the arbitrator, exchanged discovery requests, answered discovery, disclosed experts and otherwise proceeded to prepare the case for the scheduled arbitration. Subsequently, however, the attorneys for Respondent have withdrawn from this agreement because of a discovery dispute that arose in a separate case and continue to refuse to participate in the very arbitration they initiated.

Based on the Respondent's withdrawal from the Arbitration Agreement, Appellants

¹ Appellants filed a Motion to Dismiss And Compel Arbitration based on the Agreement Respondent signed at the time of admission. That motion was denied by Hon. Carmen Mullen. However, Judge Mullen's Order is currently on appeal before the South Carolina Supreme Court.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. and Southern Assisted Living, LLC (“Appellants”) filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration with the agreed upon arbitrator, retired Circuit Court Judge Hon. Thomas W. Cooper. However, the arbitrator did not believe he had jurisdiction and refused to hear the Motion. Thereafter, the Appellants filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration with the Circuit Court. By Order of the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III dated June 17, 2013, the Court denied the Appellants’ motion because he did not believe the parties had an agreement. (See, Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration of 6/17/13, pg. 5). Thereafter, the Appellants, pursuant to Rule 59(e), S.C.R.Civ.P., filed a Motion to Reconsider this ruling, which the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III also denied by Order dated August 5, 2013. (See, Order Denying Defendants Motion to Reconsider of 8/5/13). The Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on August 16, 2013, and now seek reversal of these Orders.

FACTS

This appeal concerns the Respondent’s attempt to renege on the very arbitration agreement they proposed, drafted, and acted under for a month and a half. By way of a letter dated September 28, 2012, Respondent proposed that the parties voluntarily arbitrate their dispute and gave Appellant a deadline of noon October 4, 2012 to agree. (See, Letter of K. Jolley 9/28/12). When counsel for the Appellant expressed an interest in arbitration, Respondent’s counsel then drafted the terms of the agreement. (See, Letter of K. Jolley on 10/5/12). Respondent’s offer contained the following terms:

- Exchange discovery requests – October 20, 2012
- Designate expert witnesses and provide expert CV’s – November 15, 2012
- Exchange discovery responses and documents – November 20, 2012
- Depose experts during December, 2012
- Exchange witnesses and exhibit lists – December 30, 2012
- Arbitrate the week of January 21, 2013.

Id.

In the same letter, Respondent further proposed that no depositions be taken or testimony given except experts, and that no objections to exchanged documents being admitted. Id. Finally, Respondent also proposed three potential arbitrators.

On October 8, 2012, after an exchange of emails, Appellants accepted the Respondent's offer to arbitrate, specifically stating "we will agree to those terms," and affixing an electronic signature to the email that accepted the Respondent's terms. (See, Email of M. Grier of October 8, 2012). The parties then asked retired Circuit Court Judge Thomas W. Cooper, Jr. to serve as the arbitrator, and the arbitration was scheduled for January 21-22, 2013. (See, Letter of 10/30/12 of Judge Cooper confirming his role as arbitrator). On October 12, 2012, counsel for the Respondent then sent a letter to counsel for the Appellant again confirming the agreement to arbitrate and that the terms and conditions had been agreed to stating "...we have scheduled arbitration with Thomas Cooper for January 21-22, 2013 at McNair Law Firm's Hilton Head office. *Please confirm you will attend in accordance with our previously agreed to terms and conditions.*" (See, Letter of K. Jolley of 10/12/12) (emphasis added).

It is uncontroverted that the terms offered by Respondent differ from the terms of the original Arbitration Agreement contained in the Appellants' Residency Agreement. (See, 3/31/09 Residency Agreement, at Section V). By way of example, the October 5th terms proposed by Respondent contain no limitation on the amount of damages recoverable at arbitration, whereas the original agreement places a limit of \$250,000 on non-economic damages and does not allow for an award of punitive damages. (See, 3/31/09 Agreement at Section V. B (2)(a) and (d), at pg. 14). There are multiple other differences, but, suffice it to say, Appellants gave up several substantive and procedural rights they had under the original agreement as valuable

consideration in accepting the Respondent's terms. See, Prestwick Golf Club, Inc. v. Prestwick Ltd. P'ship, 331 S.C. 385, 389, 503 S.E.2d 184, 186 (Ct. App. 1998) ("Valuable consideration may consist of "some right, interest, profit or benefit accruing to one party or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered or undertaken by the other." see also Armstrong v. Collins, 366 S.C. 204, 222-223, 621 S.E.2d 368, 378 (Ct. App. 2005) ("A benefit to the promisor or a detriment to the promisee may provide sufficient consideration for a contract.")). Of note, neither Respondent, nor the lower court in either of its Orders ever questioned the existence of valuable consideration in the agreement.

Per the agreement, both parties then immediately began to act in accordance with the terms of their arbitration agreement and did so without incident over the next month and a half. They served interrogatories and requests to produce on one another on October 22, 2012. In fact, in the cover letter serving its discovery requests, counsel for Respondent specifically stated that the discovery requests were being served "*in accordance with our agreed-upon arbitration schedule.*" (See, Letter of K. Jolley of 10/20/12) (emphasis added). Similarly, Respondent's own discovery requests again referred specifically to the agreed upon arbitration. (See, Respondent's Requests for Production Nos. 3, 5, 7, and 8). Both parties then answered written discovery on November 20, 2012. Again, Respondent specifically admitted in both its transmittal letter and in its discovery responses that it had an arbitration agreement with Appellants. (See, Plaintiff's Answer to Interrogatories Nos. 1, 5, 6, and 7 and Responses to Requests for Production No. 7). Also during this time, the arbitrator reviewed certain case materials, billed the parties for the time he spent working on the matter from October through December 2012, and issued an invoice reflecting the same. (See, Invoice of Thomas W. Cooper).

Concurrently with the arbitration discovery process in the Pruett arbitration, the parties

Appellants (“Scheerle”). The discovery dispute centered on the privilege Appellants asserted over internal investigation documents prepared in anticipation of litigation and Respondent’s challenge to the claim of privilege. In Scheerle, the Appellants ultimately produced the requested discovery files on March 1, 2013.² However, by way of letter dated November 20, 2012, counsel for Respondent had already indicated they were withdrawing from the arbitration in this case because the documents in Scheerle were not produced in this arbitration. (See, 11/20/12 Letter of K. Jolley). Despite the subsequent production of the documents in question, Respondents have continued to refuse to honor the agreement to arbitrate. Importantly for purposes of this appeal, the letter of November 20, 2012 is the very first time Respondent ever attempted to frame its desire for discovery requests as a “condition precedent” to the arbitration agreement. There is no language in the actual agreement that would suggest that the production of these documents was something that had to occur before Respondent’s duty to arbitrate would be triggered.

After Respondent withdrew, Appellant then sought the assistance of the arbitrator in resolving the discovery issue, but the Arbitrator felt he did not have jurisdiction to decide the issue. Thereafter, Appellant sought relief in the Circuit Court in the form of a Motion to Compel Arbitration. (See, Appellants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration).

At the hearing on Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration, Respondent asserted she had the right to renege on her agreement to arbitrate for two reasons. First, Respondent asserted she did not (initially) receive the internal investigation documents that she had requested in a separate case against the Appellants. Second, Respondent attempted to re-write the agreement to include a “time is of the essence” type clause and argued the agreement was void because the

² The Court of Appeals ruled on June 27, 2013 that discovery should now be stayed in the other case because it is on appeal.

include a “time is of the essence” type clause and argued the agreement was void because the arbitration did not occur on the date agreed upon. Respondent again attempted to couch these two points of contention as “condition precedents” despite not making them such in the arbitration agreement she drafted and offered.

Judge Dukes denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration finding there was no agreement to arbitrate and there was no meeting of the minds as to the terms. Interestingly, however, Respondent never argued that there was not an arbitration agreement, rather what she asserted was that the Appellant breached the agreement by not providing certain documents in discovery. However, in his Order, Judge Dukes made this finding *sua sponte*, stating,

This Court finds the parties had no enforceable agreement to arbitrate. First, the evidence shows that counsel negotiated, *but never came to an actual agreement* to the terms of an arbitration. No agreement was ever memorialized and signed by the parties or counsel. See, Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration, at pg. 5. (emphasis added).

Judge Dukes continued, “Second, the parties’ disagreement as to the terms and the interpretation of their negotiations evidences there was no meeting of the minds and, therefore, no agreement.”

Id. After Appellants’ motion to reconsider this ruling was denied, this appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review. Chassereau v. Global Sun Pools, Inc., 373 S.C. 168, 171, 644 S.E.2d 718, 720 (2007); see also Davis v. KB Homes of S.C., Inc., 394 S.C. 116, 713 S.E.2d 799 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding “arbitrability determinations are subject to de novo review”). Nevertheless, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings.

See Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007).³

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW WHEN IT FOUND THAT THERE WAS NO AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE.

An agreement to arbitrate is a contract and the parties are free to determine its terms. See Palmetto Homes, Inc., v. Bradley, 357 S.C. 485, 593 S.E.2d (Ct. App. 2004); see also Simmons v. Lucas & Stubbs Assocs. Ltd., 283 S.C. 326, 332-33, 322 S.E.2d 467, 470 (Ct. App. 1984) (Arbitration is a matter of contract, and the range of issues that can be arbitrated is restricted by the terms of the agreement). Where an agreement is clear and capable of legal interpretation, the court's only function is to interpret its lawful meaning, discover the intention of the parties as found within the agreement, and give effect to it. See York v. Dodgeland of Columbia, Inc., ___ S.C. ___, 749 S.E.2d 139 (Ct. App. 2013). "A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, oral or written, or by conduct." Armstrong v. Collins, 366 S.C. 204, 222-223, 621 S.E.2d 368, 378 (Ct. App. 2005), citing Roberts v. Gaskins, 327 S.C. 478, 483, 486 S.E.2d 771, 773 (Ct. App. 1997). With certain exceptions, a contract need not be in writing to be enforceable. See Armstrong, supra.

"When the existence of a contract is disputed or its terms are ambiguous, evidence that a party complied with the terms of the alleged contract or acted in conformity therewith is relevant and admissible on the issues of the contract's existence, the meaning of its terms, and whether the contract was breached." Conner v. City of Forest Acres, 363 S.C. 460, 473, 611 S.E.2d 905, 912(2005) (citing Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co., 321 S.C. 291, 303, 468 S.E.2d 292, 300 (1996) (contract may be based on verbal understanding to which both parties have mutually

³ There is obviously some conflict between these two standards of review as "[d]e novo review permits appellate court fact-finding, notwithstanding the presence of evidence supporting the trial court's findings." Lewis v. Lewis, 392 S.C. 381, 390, 709 S.E.2d 650, 654-55 (2011). In any event, the issue on review here is legal in nature and does not touch on a question of fact.

assented and upon which both are acting)); see also Gaskins v. Blue Cross-Blue Shield of S.C., 271 S.C. 101, 105, 245 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1978) ("agreement" does not necessarily import any direct or express stipulation, nor is it necessary that it should be in writing; if there is verbal understanding to which both parties have assented, and upon which both are acting, it is an agreement); Baylor v. Bath, 189 S.C. 269, 1 S.E.2d 139 (1938) (holding in lawsuit to enforce specific performance of an alleged oral agreement by elderly bachelor to make a will in consideration of care and nursing, it was proper to admit evidence that plaintiffs provided care and nursing for three years until bachelor's death to prove existence of the contract and performance under its terms).

In determining whether an agreement to arbitrate exists, "the court should apply 'ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts.'" Towles v. United Healthcare Corp., 338 S.C. 29, 37, 524 S.E.2d 839, 844 (Ct. App. 1999). The policy of the United States and South Carolina is to favor arbitration of disputes. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc., 346 S.C. 580, 553 S.E.2d 110 (2001). There is a strong presumption in favor of the validity of arbitration agreements because of the strong policy favoring arbitration. Towles, supra, citing O'Neil v. Hilton Head Hosp., 115 F.3d 272, 273 (4th Cir. 1997). A motion to compel arbitration made pursuant to an arbitration clause in a written contract should only be denied where the clause is not susceptible to any interpretation which would cover the asserted dispute." Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp., 400 S.C. 281, 287, 733 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. 2012) (reversing Judge Dukes who refused to enforce a valid arbitration agreement) (citing Zabinski, 346 S.C. at 597, 553 S.E.2d at 118-19)).

In the instant case, there is no basis for denying the existence of an arbitration agreement when the parties reached a clear agreement that was (a) *offered* by the Respondent, (b) *accepted*

by the Appellants, and (c) supported by *consideration*. See Southern Glass & Plastics Co., Inc. v. Kemper, 399 S.C. 483, 491 732 S.E.2d 205, 209 (Ct. App. 2012) (“[t]he necessary elements of a contract are an offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration”). In fact, Respondent specifically and repeatedly acknowledged the existence of an agreement, and, in several documents subsequent to the ratification of the agreement, relied upon it to propound and respond to discovery. (See, Letters of K. Jolley of 10/12/12, 10/20/12 and Plaintiff’s Answers to Interrogatories and Requests for Production). Indeed, had there been no arbitration agreement, the Respondent would have not had any power to propound discovery requests, as the original action was stayed during its appeal. Likewise, both parties conducted themselves in accordance with the terms of this same agreement and this performance further evidences the existence of the agreement. See Gaskins v. Blue Cross-Blue Shield of S.C., 271 S.C. 101, 105, 245 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1978) (holding an “agreement” does not necessarily import any direct or express stipulation, nor is it necessary that it should be in writing; if there is verbal understanding to which both parties have assented, and upon which both are acting, it is an agreement). Here, the agreement is even stronger than a verbal understanding, as it is evidenced in the parties’ explicit e-correspondence.

The first offer was made on September 28, 2012, when Respondent gave Appellant a deadline to agree to arbitration. Negotiations of the terms of the agreement ensued. On October 5, 2012, Respondent sent its offer in an email proposing arbitration with limited discovery and proposing the dates for conducting such discovery. (See, Letter of K. Jolley of 10/5/12). On October 8, 2012, Appellants accepted that offer in writing and said “we agree to those terms.” See Email of M. Grier of 10/8/12. Truly, the offer and acceptance could not be more clear – i.e., “we agree to those terms.” Finally, Appellants in agreeing to Respondent’s terms gave up their

rights to proceed under the arbitration agreement in the Residency Agreement, which contained among other things a limit of liability, as valuable consideration. Accordingly, all three contractual elements were satisfied. The Respondent never asserted there was no agreement. Instead, she elected to call off the arbitration in this case based on a discovery dispute. (See, Letter of K. Jolly of 11/20/12).

The Respondent also did not premise her withdrawal on a lack of an agreement or because the parties lacked a meeting of the minds. In fact, when the Respondent withdrew from the scheduled arbitration, her counsel expressly admitted that the parties had an agreement to arbitrate. (See, Letter of K. Jolley of 11/20/12). Thus, by her own admission, Respondent has conceded that an arbitration agreement existed. So there cannot be a question of whether there was an agreement to arbitrate and, therefore, the court below erred as a matter of law.

A. THE AGREEMENT IS NOT RENDERED UNENFORCEABLE SIMPLY BECAUSE IT IS FINALIZED THROUGH EMAIL WITH AN ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE.

The lower Court erred when it concluded that no agreement existed because “[n]o agreement was ever memorialized and signed by the parties or counsel.” (See, Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration, p. 5). The Respondent’s offer letter was sent electronically, and the Appellants likewise accepted the offer in the same fashion using an electronic signature affixed to the acceptance. Both the offer and acceptance were valid under South Carolina law, which treats electronic records the same as written records, and electronic signatures the same as written signatures. See, S.C. Code Ann. § 26-6-70 (stating that “(A) A record or signature must not be denied legal effect or enforceability solely because it is in electronic form; (B) A contract must not be denied legal effect or enforceability solely because an electronic record is used in its formation; (C) An electronic record satisfies a law requiring a record to be in writing; [and] (D) An electronic signature satisfies a law requiring a signature).

Thus, clearly the Legislature has deemed a contract via e-mail to be proper, legal, and binding.

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THE PARTIES DID NOT HAVE A MEETING OF THE MINDS

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