THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas  
Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-001808

---

Samuel H. Pruett, as Personal Representative for the Estate of  
Yvonne Carrie Pruett, .....Respondent,

v.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., Southern Assisted Living, LLC, d/b/a Carolina House of  
Hilton Head, and Sonia S. King.....Defendants,

Of whom Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., and Southern Assisted Living, LLC, d/b/a  
Carolina House of Hilton Head, are the .....Appellants.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Susan Taylor Wall, S.C. Bar # 05799  
McNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.

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

**B. Condition Two: Arbitration to Occur the Week of January 21, 2013.**

Brookdale agreed to arbitrate the case the week of January 21, 2013. In the October 5, 2012 letter, Pruett’s counsel proposed a tight timeline and pointed out the necessity for compliance with the deadlines. The letter states “We have very little time to prepare for this arbitration.” (Exh. A to Appellants’ Mot. to Compel Arbitration, p. 1). The timeline was intended in part to resolve Pruett’s case prior to the necessity of briefing Pruett’s case in the pending consolidated appeal before the Supreme Court based on the arbitration provision in the Residency Agreement. (Resp’t Memo. in Opp. to Appellants’ Mot. to Compel Arbitration, p. 2). Brookdale’s failure to produce discovery responses without objection on the November 20, 2012 deadline, or any time thereafter, made it impossible to arbitrate by the January 21, 2013 date. Brookdale had agreed to the

timeline condition, and compliance was required. (Exh. A to Appellants' Mot. to Compel Arbitration, p. 1).

Brookdale incorrectly argues that strict compliance with the agreed-upon deadlines was not required because the communications between counsel did not contain a time-is-of-the-essence written provision. It cannot be seriously disputed, since the date was in writing and agreed to, that arbitration was to occur the week of January 21, 2013. (Exh. A to Appellants' Mot. to Compel Arbitration, p. 1). The words "time is of the essence" are not necessary when a date for performance is agreed to. A time-is-of-the-essence "provision is not necessary to make time of the essence of the contract, nor any particular form of expression, although that intention must be clearly manifested." 17B C.J.S. *Contracts* § 787. Counsel expressly agreed to and set dates for the occurrence of events and, therefore, performance was required on the agreed-upon dates.

**C. Brookdale Did Not and Could Not Cure its Failure to Satisfy the Conditions Precedent.**

Brookdale never produced full and complete discovery responses in the Pruett case. Brookdale's assertion that it has cured the failures to satisfy the conditions precedent is not only incorrect, the argument cannot be considered on appeal. As an initial matter, the issue is not proper for the Court's consideration because it is not raised as a separate issue on appeal and includes no citation to authority. *See* Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, ("Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.") *and* Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR ("At the head of each part, the particular issue to be addressed shall be set forth in distinctive type, followed by discussion and citations of authority."). Accordingly, this Court should decline to rule on the issue.

Should the Court choose to review the issue, it is an undisputed fact that Brookdale did not cure the conditions precedent. Brookdale has *never* produced the requested discovery responses in the Pruett case *to date*. Although Brookdale produced the internal investigation documents in the Scheerle case in March 2013, that production is irrelevant to the production requirement in the Pruett case. Furthermore, the Scheerle production occurred *long after* the documents were due in the Pruett case, *long after* the time allowed for arbitration in the Pruett case, and *long after* Pruett was forced to file a brief in the consolidated case on appeal at the Supreme Court. “[I]n some instances timely performance is so essential that any delay immediately results in discharge and there is no period of time during which the injured party’s duties are merely suspended and the other party can cure his failure.” Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 242 cmt. a (1981). Receipt of complete discovery responses at any time after November 20, 2012, would not “cure” Brookdale’s failure to satisfy the condition precedent under the timeline set forth between counsel. Brookdale’s refusal to produce documents in Pruett led to its breach of the arbitration date of January 21, 2013. An arbitration in Pruett could not occur on the date agreed to because of Brookdale’s failure to produce documents, which failure continues to this day in the Pruett case. Brookdale cannot attempt to cure its failures after the time for compliance has expired. The time for compliance has long come and gone.

**D. Pruett had No Obligation to Arbitrate.**

As discussed above, there was no binding agreement to arbitrate under Rule 43(k), SCRCF, and there was no binding agreement to arbitrate because there was no meeting of the minds. Furthermore, when Brookdale refused to satisfy the conditions

precedent to arbitration, Pruett had no obligation to arbitrate her case. In its brief, Brookdale makes a number of arguments that are unpreserved or are an incorrect characterization of the facts. First, Brookdale mischaracterizes counsel's discussions and conduct in asserting that Pruett was the "drafter" of an arbitration. It is evident in the emails following the October 5, 2012 letter that, in fact, counsel for both sides mutually contributed to and negotiated terms and conditions of an arbitration. (Exhs. A and B to Appellant's Mot. to Compel Arbitration). "At common law, no contract is formed if the acceptance varies the terms of the offer. Instead, an acceptance which adds different or additional terms is treated as a counteroffer, which may be accepted or rejected by the other party." *Weisz Graphics Div. of Fred B. Johnson Co. v. Peck Indus., Inc.*, 304 S.C. 101, 106, 403 S.E.2d 146, 149 (Ct. App. 1991) (internal citation omitted). In the October 5 and October 8 emails between counsel, different or additional terms and conditions were added to the October 5 proposal. Thus, there is no legal or factual basis for construing the terms and conditions against Pruett. Regardless, it was Brookdale who refused to produce documents despite its agreement to the contrary, thus breaching the condition precedent.

Second, Brookdale incorrectly labels Pruett's withdrawal from arbitration as a rescission of a contract. "Rescission is an equitable remedy that attempts to undo a contract from the beginning as if the contract had never existed." *ZAN, LLC v. Ripley Cove, LLC*, 406 S.C. 404, 751 S.E.2d 664, 669 (Ct. App. 2013). Rescission is inapplicable in the first instance because there was no binding agreement to arbitrate. In addition, Pruett did not rescind arbitration but instead withdrew from arbitration and was not obligated to arbitrate due to Brookdale's failure to satisfy the conditions precedent to

arbitration, which failure Pruett did not excuse. *See McGill v. Moore*, 381 S.C. 179, 187, 672 S.E.2d 571, 575 (2009) (“If a contract contains a condition precedent, that condition must either occur or it must be excused before a party’s duty to perform arises.”).

Third, Brookdale asserts the parol evidence rule applies to this Court’s decision on appeal. This argument cannot be considered by the Court on appeal because it is not preserved for appellate review, as Brookdale did not raise the issue to the circuit court. *Hollis v. Stonington Dev., LLC*, 394 S.C. 383, 406, 714 S.E.2d 904, 916 (Ct. App. 2011) (“An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court to be preserved.” (internal quotation marks omitted)). If the Court were to consider the issue, the parol evidence rules does not apply because there was no binding and enforceable agreement to arbitrate. “The parol evidence rule prevents the introduction of extrinsic evidence of agreements or understandings contemporaneous with or prior to execution of a written instrument when the extrinsic evidence is to be used to contradict, vary or explain the written instrument.” *McGill*, 381 S.C. at 188, 672 S.E.2d at 576. The parol evidence rule applies only when there is a binding agreement, which in this case does not exist.

Brookdale also incorrectly claims that Pruett relied on the November 12, 2012 email to prove the discovery condition precedent. (Initial Br. of Appellant p. 21). As Brookdale’s counsel acknowledged at the hearing before Judge Dukes, the conditions precedent were set forth in the October 5, 2012 letter and emails on October 5, 2012, and October 8, 2012. The Court asked: “Am I correct that the entire substance of the – what’s purported to be the arbitration agreement is the letter of October 5 and the e-mail chain that includes correspondence on October 8 and October 5 and that’s it, right?” (Tr.

p. 21, Ins. 20-25). Brookdale's counsel answered "Yeah. And those are attached to my motion too." (Tr. p. 22, Ins. 1-2). The October 5, 2012 letter and emails on October 5, 2012, and October 8, 2012, include the condition precedent of discovery without objection and the date for arbitration to occur the week of January 21, 2013. These writings presented to the circuit court evidence the conditions precedent without resorting to any other documents or discussions. The November 12, 2012 email, also presented to the circuit court, was evidence of the reiteration of the discovery condition precedent. (Exh. 6 to Resp't Memo. in Opp. to Appellants' Mot. to Compel Arbitration, p. 1).

Finally, Brookdale's argument that Pruett's withdrawal from arbitration is barred by the doctrine of unclean hands cannot be considered by the Court because it too is not preserved for appellate review, as it was not raised to the circuit court. *Hollis*, 394 S.C. 383, 406, 714 S.E.2d 904, 916 ("An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court to be preserved." (internal quotation marks omitted)). Should the Court consider the argument, it does not apply to the facts of this case and is legally inapplicable. This is an action at law to which the equitable defense of unclean hands does not apply. See *Sherlock Holmes Pub, Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 389 S.C. 77, 81, 697 S.E.2d 619, 621 (Ct. App. 2010) ("Generally, an action to construe a contract is one at law."); *Aaron v. Mahl*, 381 S.C. 585, 594, 674 S.E.2d 482, 487 (2009) ("The equitable doctrine of unclean hands, however, has no application to an action at law."). In addition, because Brookdale refused to produce complete discovery responses, a condition precedent, Brookdale's conduct prevented a timely and fair arbitration from occurring.

Brookdale did not satisfy the conditions precedent to arbitration. Pruett withdrew from arbitration because Pruett had no obligation to arbitrate based upon Brookdale's failure to satisfy the agreed upon terms. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court's decision to deny Brookdale's motion to compel arbitration.

**III. BROOKDALE'S ESTOPPEL ARGUMENT IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL AND IS WITHOUT MERIT.**

Brookdale argues for the first time on appeal that Pruett was estopped from withdrawing from arbitration. The Court on appeal should decline to address this issue because Brookdale failed to preserve the issue for appellate review. Further, Brookdale's argument is without merit because Pruett does not assert a breach of contract claim seeking to enforce an agreement.

Brookdale cannot raise equitable estoppel for the first time on appeal. "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Imposing such a requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); *see also Hollis*, 394 S.C. at 406, 714 S.E.2d at 916 ("An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court to be preserved." (internal quotation marks omitted)). Brookdale did not argue estoppel, or even use the word "estoppel," in its Motion to Compel Arbitration, Memorandum in Support of Motion to Compel Arbitration, or Motion to Reconsider and Memorandum in Support. Further, at the hearing on its motion, Brookdale did not argue estoppel. Brookdale's argument of detrimental reliance was asserted for the first time in its Motion to Reconsider. (Appellants' Mot. to Reconsider p. 8). The circuit court ruled

the argument was not proper for its consideration because it had not been raised prior to the motion to reconsider. (Resp't Memo. in Opp. to Appellants' Mot. to Reconsider, p. 2; Order Denying Resp't Mot. to Reconsider, p. 1-2). Brookdale did not appeal that ruling and, therefore, it is the law of the case. *Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010) ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance."). Thus, Brookdale cannot now raise this issue on appeal because the issue was not raised to and ruled upon below.

If the Court were to consider estoppel, Brookdale cannot and has not proven the elements.

To establish estoppel, the party claiming estoppel must prove that he or she (1) lacked knowledge and means of obtaining knowledge of the truth of the facts in question; and (2) relied upon the conduct of the party to be estopped. The party claiming estoppel must also establish that the party to be estopped (1) acted in a way amounting to a false representation or concealment of material facts; (2) intended such conduct be acted upon by the other party; and (3) possessed knowledge, either actual or constructive, of the true facts.

*Kelly v. Logan, Jolley, & Smith, LLP*, 383 S.C. 626, 638, 682 S.E.2d 1, 7 (Ct. App. 2009) (internal citation omitted). "The party asserting equitable estoppel bears the burden of establishing all the elements." *Id.* at 638, 682 S.E.2d at 7.

There is no evidence to satisfy the elements of estoppel as to Pruett. Counsel for both parties discussed the terms and conditions of an arbitration; it was Brookdale who failed to satisfy the conditions, and it was Pruett who detrimentally relied on Brookdale's representation that it would provide full and complete discovery responses without objection and arbitrate the week of January 21, 2013. It was then Brookdale who breached the conditions to an arbitration which resulted in Pruett's withdrawal from arbitration and a loss of time and money.

As support for its estoppel argument, which is not properly before this court, Brookdale cites to *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hospital*, 400 S.C. 281, 733 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. 2012). The citation is misplaced because it does not apply to the facts or procedure of the Pruett case. In *Pearson*, a doctor brought a breach of contract claim against his employer based on a contract that contained an arbitration provision. *Id.* at 286, 733 S.E.2d at 599. The Court held that because the doctor asserted a breach of contract claim and therefore sought damages under the contract between the corporation and hospital, and benefited from their contract, he could not disclaim the arbitration provision. *Id.* at 297, 733 S.E.2d at 605. Unlike in *Pearson*, this appeal involves negotiations between counsel concerning arbitration, not an arbitration provision in a contract. Further, Pruett has not asserted a breach of contract action claiming benefits under an agreement because, as the circuit court correctly found, there was no binding agreement to arbitrate.

Brookdale's attempt to circumvent, on appeal, the lower court's correct ruling that the parties did not have a binding agreement to arbitrate by asserting equitable estoppel for the first time on appeal should be disregarded. Not only did Brookdale fail to preserve the argument for appeal, its use of equitable concepts is misdirected. Brookdale cannot invoke equity where Brookdale is the very party that agreed, but then refused, to produce discovery responses without objection and satisfy the timeline for arbitration.

#### **IV. BROOKDALE'S JURISDICTION ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL AND IS WITHOUT MERIT.**

The circuit court did not rule on Brookdale's argument that the issue as to Brookdale's failure to satisfy conditions precedent should have been ruled upon by an arbitrator, and thus the issue is not preserved for review on appeal. "An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to *and ruled upon* by the